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OREGON INVENTORY OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES
SECTION 106 DOCUMENTATION FORM 

Individual Properties 

Surveyor/Agency:  Elizabeth O’Brien, B. Architecture Date Recorded:  May 2008 Pg 1 
Archaeological Investigations Northwest, Inc. 

Agency/Project:  Oregon Department of Transportation/Sunrise Project I-205 to Rock Creek Junction 

Property Name:  Frank A. Haberlach House and Silverthread Kraut and Pickle Works 

Street Address:  13002 SE Highway 212/224 City, County:  Clackamas, Clackamas 

USGS Quad Name:  Gladstone, Oregon 7.5-minute Township:  2 South Range:  2 East Section:  11 

This property is part of a   District Grouping/Ensemble (see instructions) 
Name of District or Grouping/Ensemble:  Frank A. Haberlach House and Silverthread Kraut and Pickle Works Building 

Number and Type of Associated Resources in Grouping/Ensemble:  1 house, 1 garage, 1 processing building 

Current Use:  Restaurant and feed store Construction Date:  Ca. 1920 

Architectural Classification / Resource Type:  Craftsman Bungalow Alterations & Dates:  Ca. 1980 

Window Type & Material: 
Multi-light-over-single-light wood sashes 

Roof Type & Material: 
Side gable / asphalt composition shingle 

Exterior Surface Materials: 
 Primary:       Horizontal board 
 Secondary:  Shingle 

  Decorative:  N/A

Condition: Excellent Good Fair Poor Integrity: Excellent Good Fair Poor

The Frank A. Haberlach House north façade and west elevation.  The view is to the southeast. 

Preliminary National Register Findings: National Register listed

Potentially Eligible: Individually As part of District 

Not Eligible: In current state Irretrievable integrity loss Lacks Distinction Not 50 Years

State Historic Preservation Office Comments:
Concur Do Not Concur: Potentially Eligible Individually Potentially Eligible as part of District Not Eligible 

Signed _____________________________________________________ Date ______________________________ 
Comments: 

K12454
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Individual Properties 

Surveyor/Agency:  Elizabeth O’Brien, B. Architecture Date Recorded:  May 2008 Pg 2 
Archaeological Investigations Northwest, Inc. 

Property Name:  Frank A. Haberlach House and Silverthread Kraut and Pickle Works 

Street Address:  13002 SE Highway 212/224 City, County:  Clackamas, Clackamas 

Architect, Builder or Designer (if known): 
Unknown 

Owner: Private Local Government State
Federal Other

Description of Property (including exterior alterations & approximate dates), Significance Statement, and Sources. (Use 
continuation sheets if necessary):

The circa 1920 Frank A. Haberlach House (13002 SE Highway 212/224) is located at the southeast corner of Highway 
212/224 and SE 130th Avenue (former Haberlach Road), oriented north towards Highway 212/224 and approximately one 
mile north of the Clackamas River.  Originally built for Frank A. Haberlach, the Craftsman Bungalow was home to the 
Haberlach family and is currently occupied by the Harmony House Restaurant.  Directly behind and south of the house is 
the former dill pickle processing building known as the Silverthread Kraut and Pickle Works.  The Pickle Works building is 
oriented east-to-west and access is presently from the south elevation off present-day SE 130th Avenue.  The Haberlach 
House/restaurant has asphalt parking on the west, south, and east sides with landscaping buffering the front from highway 
traffic.  A graveled parking area is located south of the former pickle processing building.   

Frank A. Haberlach House

The Frank A. Haberlach house is a one-and-one-half story wood-framed building covered by beveled wood siding with 
wood shingle siding on the second floor.  The building is supported by a poured concrete foundation.  The side-gable roof 
has deep overhanging eaves, corbelled wood bracing, plain bargeboards, and a front gable dormer.  Windows consist of 
groupings of multi-light-over-single-light wood sashes. 

Access from the north-facing façade is by a full-width porch and concrete stairways, sheltered by the sloping gable roof.  
The porch roof is supported by truncated boxed posts on a brick knee wall.  Stucco covered segmental arch openings 
adorn the porch side openings.  The deep overhanging eaves are supported by corbelled wood beams.  A square bay 
window covered by a shed roof with exposed rafters projects from the west elevation.  There is an exterior brick chimney on 
the east elevation that is painted at the first floor, with unpainted tan brick above.  An interior chimney is found in the rear.

The garage, which appears contemporary to the house (circa 1920), is partially attached at the house’s southwest corner 
and has been converted into the restaurant kitchen.  It has a new poured concrete foundation, siding modifications and 
aluminum sliding windows.  The exposed rafters, corbelled wood beams, wood shingle siding in the gable ends, and 
overhanging roof remain intact.   

Modifications include the addition of an exterior wood-framed stair on the east elevation, a second floor exterior exit door, 
and the conversion of the garage into a commercial kitchen.  Overall, the residence maintains its historic integrity.  

Silverthread Kraut and Pickle Works Building

The circa 1920 Silverthread Kraut and Pickle Works Building was built as a dill pickle processing plant and was one of three 
large buildings used as part of the pickle and sauerkraut processing plant that was operated by the Haberlach family up to 
the 1960s.  The other two buildings no longer remain.  The pickle building is a one-story, rectangular utilitarian wood-
framed building that has a longitudinal east-to-west orientation.  The original west facing entry is covered by plywood and 
the primary access is from the south elevation.  The double-beveled siding and cornerboard trim remains intact and the 
gable roof is covered by corrugated metal.  Two horizontal window bays flank the former west entry bay; one has a 
grouping of multi-lights in a repeating Union-Jack design; the other is replaced with a single fixed light.  Clackamas Feed 
and Pet Supply presently occupies the building.    

Significance 

The Frank A. Haberlach House and Silverthread Kraut and Pickle Works Building were previously recorded in 1984 and in 
1990 by Clackamas County as a landmark historic property (SHPO No. 1037) [see attached form].  The ca. 1920s buildings 
are remnants of the Haberlach farm that operated from the early 1900s into the 1960s.  The buildings are significant for 
their associations with the Haberlach family, and the processing building is one of the few known agricultural processing 
plants to remain in Clackamas County (Koler and Morrison 1990).  The two buildings continue to maintain integrity and are 
recommended to be eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places as a grouping.  A house purchased circa 
1933 by Frank’s son, Frank W. Haberlach, is located south of the south edge of the Haberlach farm and is now the Sah-
Hah-Lee Golf Club house 
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Archaeological Investigations Northwest, Inc.

Property Name:  Frank A. Haberlach House and Silverthread Kraut and Pickle Works 

Street Address:  13002 SE Highway 212/224 City, County:  Clackamas, Clackamas 

Historical Background 

Frank A. Haberlach came from Prussia circa 1881 along with his father (Gustav) and mother (Augusta).  The Haberlach 
family lived in Michigan until circa 1890, and for a while in McCloud, California, where Gustav worked as a carpenter before 
moving to Oregon.  Upon coming to Oregon, Gustav worked as a carpenter building houses in Oregon City and Clackamas.  
In 1900, U.S. Census records show that the entire family lived on a farm in the Clackamas precinct.  At that time, the family 
was comprised of the parents, Gustav and Augusta, and the six surviving children: Frank A. (1878, Germany), Carl G. 
(1879, Germany), Willie F. (1882, Michigan), Katie C. (1885, Michigan), Gustav Jr. (1888, Michigan), Emma M (1881[sic], 
Oregon).  This farm was located north of Highway 212/224 slightly west of the subject property.  This farm was called for a 
time the Zigzag Farm because of the road that zigzagged up the hill next to the farm from the present-day Highway 212/224 
(Bill Haberlach, personal communication 2008).  

Gustav’s son Carl later moved to Tillamook and proved to be an astute businessman.  Trained to be a lawyer, he is noted 
for organizing a Tillamook creamery cooperative that was established in 1909 as the Tillamook Cheese’s Tillamook County 
Creamery Association.  He was instrumental in establishing the cooperative’s high quality standards and made early efforts 
to market their cheese.  Carl married Amanda who hailed from a large Swedish family from Tillamook.  When Frank A. 
decided to marry, his brother Carl introduced him to Amanda’s sister, Anna.  Frank and Anna married circa 1905 and by 
1910 they were farming land near Gustav’s farm in the Clackamas vicinity (US Bureau of Census 1900; US Bureau of 
Census 1910; Bill Haberlach, personal communication 2008; Dudlicek 2005; Tillamook County Historical Society 2008).   

Frank A. and Anna acquired farmland south of Frank’s father’s farm.  Their first home was located south of the subject 
buildings on 130th Avenue, where SE Capps Road curves westward.  This home was later destroyed by fire.  Frank A. 
experimented with several crops over time including orchards, sheep, and truck farming, and began processing sauerkraut 
and pickles in 1905.  As the business proved successful, they moved the operation and constructed the subject house 
closer to the main road (circa 1920).  Their new home was a sign of their hard work and growing success.    

The new home and processing plant was constructed on land purchased by Frank and Anna Haberlach in 1919 from 
William O. Capps, the son of the original donation land claim owner, Isaac Capps.  Prior research found that the Capps 
family and the Haberlachs were listed in the 1907-08 Gazetteer and Business Directory as operating a grocery store (Koler 
and Morrison 1990).  A descendant believes this may be Gustav’s son William Haberlach who owned a grocery store in 
Clackamas.  He also had a distribution plant for Standard Oil and a trucking business for hauling dynamite (Bill Haberlach, 
personal communication 2008; Herbert Haberlach, personal communication 2008.)  

Frank A. and Anna’s pickle and sauerkraut operation was contained within several buildings south of their new house.  The 
subject building housed the dill pickle processing operation.  Two separate buildings (no longer standing) housed the sweet 
pickle and sauerkraut processing.  The products, traditional accompaniments to meat, were generally peddled in bulk to 
meat markets and sausage makers.  Produce for their products was both grown and purchased by the Haberlachs.  
Cabbages were generally grown on the fertile lowland near the Clackamas River and many of the cucumbers were 
purchased from other farmers.  The outer cabbage leaves not used in making sauerkraut were used on other Haberlach 
farms for animal feed (Herbert Haberlach, personal communication 2008).  A cannery was later introduced and their 
canned products were sold during the Depression, providing many families with affordable and nutritious food.  During 
World War II, their sauerkraut was sold to the US Army (Bill Haberlach, personal communication 2008).  

The Haberlach family owned several large land parcels on either side of Highway 212/224.  The older farm north of 
Highway 212/224 was later farmed by Gustav Jr. and his son Herbert.  They had 8 acres of apple trees and typically farmed 
grain and hay (Herbert Haberlach, personal communication 2008).  Frank W. and his family lived in a house they 
purchased circa 1933 near the Clackamas River, the present golf club house for the Sah-Hah-Lee Golf Course.  In 1937 
Frank Haberlach owned a long strip of land from Highway 212/224 south along the roadway; another parcel spread over 
the north Clackamas River bank and land on the opposite side of the road.  Gustav (presumably Jr.) had land generally 
west of SE 135th Avenue to the east of Frank A.’s land.  After Frank A.’s death in 1940, his wife Anna and son Frank W. 
continued the pickle operation into the 1960s, until business fell off and their health declined.  Anna and Frank W. started 
selling off the land in the 1960s (Bill Haberlach, personal communication 2008; Metskers Maps 1928; 1937).  Descendents 
of Gustav and Augusta Haberlach still live in the area, but no longer occupy the family farm property, which has been 
subdivided and developed into a mix of commercial, industrial, and recreational uses.
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View:  The Frank A. Haberlach House north façade and west elevation.  The view is to the southeast.

View:  The Frank A. Haberlach House east elevation and north façade.  The view is to the southwest.
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Property Name:  Frank A. Haberlach House and Silverthread Kraut and Pickle Works 

Street Address:  13002 SE Highway 212/224 City, County:  Clackamas, Clackamas 

View:  The Frank A. Haberlach House west and south elevations, including the garage converted into a kitchen.  The view is to the
           northeast. 

View:  The Haberlach’s dill pickle processing building west façade and south elevation.  The view is to the northeast.
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View:  The dill pickle processing building west façade.  The view is to the southeast.

View:  The dill pickle processing building north elevation and west façade.  The view is to the southeast.
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Property Name:  Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line 

Street Address:  Willsburg Junction (MP 765.2) to Eugene (MP 647.3) City, County:  Varies 

Architect, Builder or Designer (if known): 
Oregon Central Railroad Co. 

Owner: Private Local Government State
Federal Other

Description of Property (including exterior alterations & approximate dates), Significance Statement, and Sources. (Use 
continuation sheets if necessary):
Physical Description 

The Southern Pacific (SP) Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line generally runs south from southeast Portland (Willsburg 
Juction [MP 765.2]) to Eugene (MP 647.3).  Within the project area it approaches from the northwest, crosses beneath I-
205, then extends south parallel to I-205, east of the highway in Clackamas, Oregon.  The Willamette Valley line corridor 
essentially remains intact except for minor changes.  The tracks have been upgraded over time and more recently are 136-
pound steel (Austin and Dill 1987:69).  There are three sets of main tracks on a flat bed of rock ballast. The former railroad 
stop at Clackamas was moved and later demolished.  The immediate setting within the project area is mostly a mix of 
commercial and industrial uses. 

Significance Statement 
The Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line is recommended to be eligible for listing in the National Register 
of Historic Places under Criterion A for its association with the economic development of the Willamette Valley, and as the 
first railroad to service the major cities of Portland, Oregon City, Salem, and Eugene.  Expansion of the railroad to California
and connections with eastern transcontinental lines ensured Oregon’s place in the competitive economic marketplace.   

The historic alignment of the 1869 railroad corridor remains intact.  In the project area, the line has been upgraded with 
modern overpasses and other features, and the setting has changed from rural to industrial/suburban.   

Historical Background 

The SP Main line was established by the Oregon Central Railroad Company as one of the first rail lines built in Oregon.  
Construction began in 1868 with two competitive lines; one on the west side of the Willamette River by the Westside 
Company and another on the east side of the Willamette River by the Eastside Company.  The eastside line, the subject of 
this form, began in southeast Portland and continued towards the Clackamas River and onward to Salem and Eugene.  The 
project nearly collapsed until the work was taken on by businessman Ben Holladay.  He rallied to gather cash and the 
support of the Oregon Legislature to make the project feasible, and competed against Joseph Gaston’s westside line to win 
the land grant, which was necessary to operate the railroad legitimately.  To succeed, Holladay had to complete the first 
twenty miles of his eastside line and be operational.  Holladay accomplished this by completing the railroad to New Era, 
south of Oregon City, in 1869, despite losing the Clackamas River railroad bridge to flooding and having to replace it.   

Holladay’s claim to the Oregon Central Railroad Company was challenged in court, and so it was reorganized as the 
Oregon and California Railroad Company in 1870.  This maneuver allowed him to clear his rights to the land grants.  In that 
same year he had also taken over Gaston’s Westside Railroad Company.  

By 1871, Holladay’s eastside railroad extended from Portland to Eugene, and by 1872 within 160 miles of the California 
border (Austin and Dill 1987:10-14).  After Holladay’s financial situation had deteriorated, Henry Villard took over the control
of the Oregon and California Railroad Company and continued the line to Ashland near the California border in 1884.  
Southern Pacific acquired the railroad in 1887, since then continual improvements and upgrades to the line have been 
made (Austin and Dill 1987:15, 69).  

Sources 
Austin, Ed, and Tom Dill 
 1987 The Southern Pacific in Oregon.  Pacific Fast Mail, Edmonds, Washington. 
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Agency/Project:  Clackamas County, Oregon Department of Transportation/ Sunrise Project: I-205 to Rock Creek Junction 
(Highway 212/224) 

Property Name:  Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line 

Street Address:  N/A City, County:  Clackamas, Clackamas 

� Expansion of an existing overpass (built in 2004) carrying traffic east and west bound on the present Highway 
212/224 over the Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line; 

� New two-lane overpass carrying traffic from southbound SE 82nd Avenue to the eastbound lanes of the proposed 
realignment of Highway 212/224 (this new overpass is the southernmost of two new overpasses on this proposed 
connector); 

� New two-lane overpass carrying traffic from southbound I-205 to the eastbound lanes of the proposed realignment 
of Highway 212/224 (this new overpass is the southernmost of two new overpasses on this proposed connector); 

� New six-lane overpass carrying traffic eastbound (3 lanes) and westbound (3 lanes) on the proposed realignment 
of Hwy 212/224; 

� New one-lane overpass carrying traffic from the westbound realignment of Highway 212/224 to northbound SE 
82nd Avenue; 

� New one-lane overpass carrying traffic from the westbound realignment of Highway 212/224 to northbound I-205; 

� New two-lane overpass carrying traffic from southbound I-205 to the eastbound lanes of the proposed realignment 
of Highway 212/224 (this new overpass is the northernmost of two new overpasses on this proposed connector); 

� New one-lane overpass carrying traffic from southbound I-205 to the westbound realignment of Highway 212/224; 

� New two-lane overpass connecting SE Ambler Road south of the Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley 
Main Line with SE Ambler Road north of the Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line, creating a 
connection between SE 84th Avenue and SE 82nd Drive (via SE Ambler Road); 

� New three-lane (one northbound, one southbound, plus one northbound on-ramp lane) overpass carrying traffic 
from the westbound realignment of Highway 212/224 to northbound SE 82nd Avenue; 

� New single-lane overpass carrying traffic from southbound SE 82nd Avenue to the eastbound realignment of 
Highway 212/224 (this new overpass is the northernmost of two new overpasses on this proposed connector). 

Design Option A-2, if selected, will introduce one additional overpass, extending SE Tolbert Street to the east, and carrying 
eastbound and westbound local traffic over the Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line.  The east end of this 
proposed extension of SE Tolbert Street will connect to SE Industrial Way. 

Description And Significance Of The Historic Property 

The Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line is a standard-gauge railroad extending along the east side of the 
Willamette River from Portland, south through Clackamas, Oregon City, Woodburn, Salem, and Albany before crossing to 
the west side of the Willamette River between Harrisburg and Junction City, then continuing on south to Eugene, Cottage 
Grove, Roseburg, Grants Pass, Medford, and Ashland, and California. 

The Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line, established by the Oregon Central Railroad Company, was one 
of the first railroads built in Oregon and became one of the first two main lines of the Southern Pacific Railroad. The two 
lines began construction in 1868; one on the west side of the Willamette River, the Westside Company, and another on the 
east side of the Willamette River, the Eastside Company.  The eastside line began in southeast Portland and was to 
continue towards the Clackamas River and onward to Salem and Eugene.  The project nearly collapsed until the work was 
taken over by businessman Ben Holladay.  He rallied to gather cash and the support of the Oregon Legislature to make the 
project work while he competed against Joseph Gaston’s west side line to win the land grant, which was necessary to 
operate the railroad legitimately.  To succeed, Holladay had to complete the first twenty miles of line and be operational. 
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Holladay succeeded by completing the railroad to New Era (south of Oregon City) in 1869, despite losing the Clackamas River 
railroad bridge to flooding and having to replace it.  Gaston and Holladay continued to compete for land rights for other 
segments of rail line through Oregon.  Holladay’s claim to the Oregon Central Railroad Company was challenged in court, and 
so it was reorganized as the Oregon and California Railroad Company in 1870.  This maneuver allowed Holladay to clear his 
rights to the land grants and in that same year, he took control of Gaston’s Westside Railroad. By 1871, the railroad extended 
from Portland to Eugene, and by 1872 within 160 miles of the California border (Austin and Dill 1987:10-14).  

Holladay’s financial situation had deteriorated, and Henry Villard took over the control of the Oregon and California Company, 
continuing the line to California in 1884 and expanding the railroad throughout Oregon.  Villard’s connections to the Oregon 
and California Railroad Company ended in 1884, and the Southern Pacific acquired the railroad in 1887 (Austin and Dill 
1987:15).  In 1996, Southern Pacific merged with Union Pacific Railroad under the UP name, and that company continues to 
operate this active line today (Union Pacific 2004). 

The Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line is eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places 
(NRHP) under Criterion A through its association with the historical development of railroads in Oregon and the subsequent 
economic development of the state.  This railroad alignment represents a portion of the first railroad built in the State of 
Oregon, the Oregon & California Railroad (1870), which ran along the east side of the Willamette River from Portland to 
northern California.  It continues to follow its original alignment through this portion of the Willamette Valley. 

Avoidance Alternatives Considered 

The Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line has been determined eligible for listing in the NRHP (Appendix A).  
To meet all the project objectives, two Build Alternatives, one Design Option, and a No-Build Alternative are being considered.
None have yet been selected as the preferred alternative.  Both build alternatives would include an improved interchange at I-
205 and a folded diamond interchange at Rock Creek Junction.  The alignment of the facility would generally follow a natural 
bluff-line.  Associated improvements to address local circulation are also included. 

Build Alternative 2:  Build with Midpoint Interchange
This alternative is distinguished by the inclusion of a midpoint interchange in the vicinity of SE 122nd Avenue, which would 
connect the expressway to the existing Highway 212/224.  Implementation of Build Alternative 2 would result in the 
introduction of eleven new vehicular overpasses spanning the Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line.  In terms 
of effects to the historic resource, Build Alternative 2 is identical to Build Alternative 3. 

Build Alternative 3:  Build with No Midpoint Interchange
In contrast to Alternative 2, this alternative would not have a midpoint interchange, resulting in no access to the expressway 
between I-205 and Rock Creek Junction.  Implementation of Build Alternative 3 would result in the introduction of eleven new 
vehicular overpasses spanning the Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line.  In terms of effects to the historic 
resource, Build Alternative 3 is identical to Build Alternative 2. 

Design Option A-2:  Modified 1996 Design
This Design Option A-2 is identical to Build Alternatives 2 and 3, except that it provides for the extension of SE Tolbert Street
to the east, connecting to SE Industrial Way.  This provision would include the construction of one additional overpass (for a 
total of twelve). 

No-Build Alternative
The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), ODOT, and Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) guidelines require that a 
no-build option be evaluated as an alternative.  The no-build alternative would maintain the existing roadway except for 
committed improvements scheduled in ODOT’s six-year Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) and Metro’s 
Financially Constrained Projects listed in the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP).  These listed projects include widening SE 
82nd Drive (Lawnfield Road to Highway 212/224), extension of the climbing lane on Highway 212 (Rock Creek Junction to SE 
172nd Avenue), and widening SE 172nd Avenue (Foster Road to Highway 212).  None of these planned improvements would 
affect the historic resource Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Main Line. 

Evaluation Of Effects 

An application of the criteria of effect indicates a finding of No Adverse Effect on the integrity of the Southern Pacific Railroad
Willamette Valley Main Line.  The Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley Line in the vicinity of the project area draws its
historical significance from the continued use of the original alignment for rail transportation, and the project will not affect the 
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ability of the railroad to continue to do so.  Although the setting of the railroad will be impacted through the implementation of 
any of the proposed Build Alternatives or the Design Option, the setting around the resource in this area has already been 
heavily compromised through the development of I-205 in the mid-1960s, and the introduction of four overpasses currently 
carrying traffic over the railroad within the project area.  This part of Clackamas continues to be developed for industrial and
commercial use, further compromising the historic setting of the railroad in this area. 

Conclusion 

It is the determination of ODOT that the project would not adversely affect the Southern Pacific Railroad Willamette Valley 
Line, an historic linear resource determined eligible for listing in the NRHP in 2006.  An application of the Criteria of Effect
results in a finding of “No Historic Properties Adversely Affected.” 

Sources 

Austin, Ed, and Tom Dill 
 1987 The Southern Pacific in Oregon.  Pacific Fast Mail, Edmonds, Washington. 

Union Pacific Railroad Company 
 2004 Union Pacific Railroad Chronological History.  Electronic document, http://www.uprr.com/aboutup/history/uprr-

chr.shtml, accessed November 26, 2004. 



Southern Pacific Railroad
Willamette Valley Main Line

224

§̈¦205

N

0 500
Meters

0 2,000
Feet



Southern Pacific Railroad
Willamette Valley Main Line

N

0 1mi

0 1km







OREGON INVENTORY OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES
SECTION 106 DOCUMENTATION FORM 

Individual Properties 

Surveyor/Agency:  Elizabeth J. O’Brien and Jason M. Allen/AINW Date Recorded: November 2006 Pg 2 
Appendix to Archaeological Investigations Northwest, Inc. Report No. 1740

Property Name: KEX Transmitter Facility 

Street Address: 9415 SE Lawnfield Road City, County: Clackamas, Clackamas 

Architect, Builder or Designer (if known): Owner: Private Local Government State
Federal Other

Description of Property (including exterior alterations & approximate dates), Significance Statement, and Sources. (Use 
continuation sheets if necessary):
Physical Description 
The KEX Radio Transmitter Facility is located at 9415 SE Lawnfield Road in Clackamas, Oregon east of the Southern 
Pacific Railroad right-of-way and southeast of Interstate 205.  The facility is located in an open, grassy bottomland at the 
west foot of Mount Talbert.  The generally vicinity is lightly populated with mixed commercial and industrial uses.   

The KEX transmitter building is low in profile, and essentially square in plan.  It was designed in the Streamlined-Moderne 
style which emphasized low profiles, flat roofs, minimalist detailing (usually in relief), stream-lined motifs, and smooth 
exterior surfaces.  The body of the building is sheltered by a low-pitched shed roof with shallow overhanging eaves. A pent 
roof abuts the upper façade wall, which breaks the wall into two horizontal elements.  The pent roof shelters a small 
segment of the main mass.  Scoring on the smooth-surfaced masonry walls between the vertical multi-light steel sashes 
create a horizontal band which wraps around the east and south elevations (which are visible from the street).  The west 
elevation makes use of glass block in the windows, also a common feature of this style of architecture.  The horizontal band 
is contrasted with the entry, which forms a square made up of double doors and a glass-block side light.  Three small 
square lights are stacked vertically on each double door.  Signage consists of the original block letters “KEX” placed above 
the entry along the setback upper wall.  The building’s exterior retains historic integrity as does its immediate setting, 
consisting of open grassy fields.  

Three radio towers are spaced in a line approximately 151.5 meters (m) (500 feet [ft]) north of the transmitter building.  The 
radio towers, installed in 1947, are the original the Blaw-Knox Vertical Radiator towers.  The steel lattice towers are four-
legged square radiators that are secured by guy wires attached at the mast midpoint and anchored to the ground.  This 
center-guyed tower style is fairly rare; there are no others known to be in use in the Portland area (Nielsen 2006).  The 
steel lattice towers connect to concrete bases by means of pivot attachments, and each is electrically insulated from the 
ground (Hairston 2006).  Tuning houses (equipment sheds) are found at the base of each tower to monitor the tower’s 
operation.  The underground copper grid, essential for AM ground radio-wave conductivity, remains in place beneath the 
surface of the property. 

Significance Statement  

The KEX transmitter building and tower ensemble is recommended to be eligible for listing in the National Register of 
Historic Places under Criterion C, for having distinctive characteristics of a type of architectural technology.  The ensemble 
is an intact AM radio transmitting facility which includes a radio transmitter building and three radio towers (each with a 
small equipment shed at its base).  The KEX transmitter building and tower ensemble retain their historic integrity and 
setting.  The facility remains in use by the original radio station for which it was built in 1947.  The current KEX radio 
transmitting facility is the third transmitting site used by KEX.  The first KEX transmitter building is no longer extant.  KEX
next shared the older KGW radio transmitter building (1931), which was recently demolished, as were its associated vertical 
radiator towers.   

The 1947 KEX transmitter building is one of the oldest, intact Moderne style transmitter buildings in the state.  The 
ensemble retains the original Blaw-Knox vertical radiator towers, also built in 1947.  The three towers are examples of the 
center-guyed style radiator, rare in the Portland area and possibly in the Pacific Northwest (Neilson 2006).  The towers are 
intact and are significant as rare examples of the center-guyed tower.  In addition, the underground copper grid, required for 
AM transmission, remains in place, and is a contributing element.  As an intact ensemble, the KEX facility is an excellent 
example of AM radio transmission technology. 

Historical Background 

Broadcast radio technology began in the late nineteenth century, but public radio broadcasting did not begin in earnest until 
after World War I, when a ban on amateur broadcasts was lifted.  The first licensed public broadcasting station was KDKA 
in Pennsylvania in 1920.  By the end of 1922, there were 500 to 600 licensed stations in the United States.  This was the 
year of the “great radio boom” (Douglas 1987:69), when KGW in Portland began broadcasting as the twelfth licensed 
station on the west coast (Chapman, Ellis, and Evans-Hatch 1998:1-3).   
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Most of the early stations were run by newspapers, department stores, colleges and municipalities.  Broadcasts were made 
from homes, schools or stores.  The transmission equipment and antennas were typically in or near the broadcast station.  
Some of the stations began building separate transmission buildings and antennas between the 1920s and 1940s 
(Chapman, Ellis, and Evans-Hatch 1998:1-3).  

KEX radio station entered into the broadcasting world before radio broadcasting’s “Golden Age” (generally between 1930 
and 1950).  It was established in 1926 by the Western Broadcasting Company, which was owned by Vincent I. Kraft’s 
Northwest Radio Supply Company in Seattle.  The station went on-air in late December, 1926, operating on 670 kiloHertz 
wavelength with 2,500 watts of broadcasting power.  Initially, the radio station was located in downtown Portland at the 
Terminal Sales Building and the transmitter was positioned fives miles east on NE Glisan St. and 122nd Avenue.  The brick 
transmitter building (no longer standing) was probably the first building in Portland specifically constructed for a large radio
transmitter (Chapman, Ellis and Evans-Hatch 1998:17).  Although the station was authorized to operate, it had not yet 
obtained a license because new radio laws were pending regarding the government’s control of radio broadcasting.  Due to 
this gap in government authority, the station was able to pick the optimal wave-length location at 670 kiloHertz.  The station 
operated only several hours a day, and was unable to sell commercial time.  Other difficulties centered on complaints that 
the station’s broadcasts interfered with other station’s broadcast frequencies and the station was suspected of using more 
power than it was authorized to use.  The KEX frequency was changed many times in the next several years (Patillo 
1994:1-4).           

Probably the most prominent and nationally recognized KEX radio personality was Mel Blanc.  He and his wife Estelle 
produced a popular radio program on KEX between 1933 and 1935 called “Cobwebs and Nuts.”   Because of a limited 
program budget, Blanc performed most of the characters on the show.  He later credited the program for bolstering his 
repertoire of voices and characters.  Blanc moved to Hollywood in 1935 and eventually achieved fame as the “man of a 
thousand voices” in radio and television broadcasting, and cartoons (Los Angeles Times 1989).      

As the radio industry expanded and evolved, KEX station ownership, its broadcast frequency, and affiliations changed.  The 
Oregonian Publishing Company acquired the station in 1933 as a sister station to their KGW radio station.  As a part of the 
acquisition, KEX radio station was moved to the Oregonian Building, and the radio transmitter was moved to the North 
Portland transmitter station site used by KGW (recently demolished).  The radio’s transmission frequency was changed to 
1190 kiloHertz due to frequency relocations resulting from the 1941 North American Radio Broadcasting Agreement 
(NARBA) treaty (Patillo 1994:1-4).     

Oregonian Publishing Company sold KEX to Westinghouse Radio Stations, Inc. in 1944 and plans were started to build a 
new transmitting facility.  A 46-acre parcel was purchased in Clackamas, Oregon in 1944, located on flat, wet ground to 
facilitate conductivity for the underground copper grid required for AM transmission.  The intent was to convert the 5,000-
watt station into a 50,000-watt, full-time directional broadcasting operation.  Westinghouse had the building constructed in 
1947, and all new Westinghouse equipment was installed including a Westinghouse (type 50-HG) transmitter.  The original 
transmitter was replaced by a Harris DX 50 transmitter in 1992 (Weiss 2006).  

To operate at the higher power, three Blaw-Knox 455 foot guy-wired towers were erected.  Blaw-Knox towers such as the 
ones at the KEX transmitting facility were designed and fabricated by the Blaw-Knox company based in Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania.  The Blaw-Knox company introduced towers to the market in 1927 and many were installed in the 1930s as 
the radio broadcasting industry expanded.  The KEX towers are Blaw-Knox Vertical Radiators and they were erected by 
Tower Sales and Erecting Company of Portland, Oregon (Patillo 1-4:1994; Wikipedia 2006: Neilson 2006).     

KEX continues to generate in the Clackamas location, using the original building and radiator towers.  KEX is the only 
station in the Portland area that operates at 50,000 watts during the day and night, which categorizes it as a Class A radio 
station.  The center tower functions 50,000 watts during the day, and all three are used at night.  KPOJ also uses the 
towers; the end towers operate at 25,000 watts during the day and the center and east towers transmit KPOJ broadcasts 
during the night (Nielsen 2006).       

Sources 

Chapman, Judith S., David V. Ellis, and Gail Evans-Hatch 
1998 Cultural Resources Investigations for A Proposed New Multnomah County Correctional Facility, Portland, 

Oregon.  Archaeological Investigations Northwest, Inc. Report No. 155.  Prepared for Adolfson Associates, Inc. and 
Multnomah County, Portland, Oregon. 

1999  
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Sources, continued 

Douglas, George H. 
 1987 The Early Days of Radio Broadcasting.  McFarland & Company, Jefferson, North Carolina, and London. 

Hairston, W. Watt 
 2006 Blaw-Knox Diamond Radio Towers.  Electronic document.  Available, http://hawkins.pair.com/blaw-know.html, 

accessed October 31, 2006. 

Los Angeles Times [Los Angeles, California] 
 1989 Mel Blanc Obituary.  11 July.  Los Angeles, California. 

Patillo, Craig 
 1994 History of Portland Radio Stations.  Ms. on file, Multnomah County Library, Portland, Oregon.  

Wikipedia 
 2006 Blaw-Knox tower.  Electronic document.  Available, http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Blaw_Knox_Tower, accessed 

October 31, 2006. 
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Property Name: KEX Transmitter Facility 
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View: Transmitter Building (1947), south (left) and east (right) elevations.  The view is to the northwest.

View: Three KEX Blaw-Knox vertical radiator towers (1947), view to the northwest.
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View: Equipment sheds at bases of transmission towers.  The view is to the northwest.
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Property Name: Dryden’s Super Service Texaco Station 

Street Address: 13565 SE Highway 212 City, County: Clackamas, Clackamas 

Architect, Builder or Designer (if known): 
Unknown 

Owner: Private Local Government State
Federal Other

Description of Property (including exterior alterations & approximate dates), Significance Statement, and Sources. (Use 
continuation sheets if necessary):
Physical Description 

Dryden’s Super Service Texaco Station (circa 1955) is located east of Clackamas, Oregon and north of Highway 212 near 
a 1920s bungalow residence.  The station was moved to this location sometime in the 1970s and was discontinued in use 
as a filling station.  The station is shaded by mature deciduous trees, and is east of a modern industrial business building, 
situated on a fenced lot that is currently used for vehicle storage.  The station is hidden from the street by surrounding 
buildings, trees, and parked vehicles.   

The one-story, concrete building is clad with white enameled steel and has a flat roof and parapet.  Outstanding features 
(typical to Texaco service stations) include the smooth-surfaced white exterior walls, green stripes creating a horizontal 
band along the parapet, and red stars spaced above the green striped band.  The office space is lit by the original picture 
window panes, which appear intact.  The service garage space, contained within the building’s east half has a double-bay 
opening with vertical panel sliding steel doors, each lit by a single-pane, fixed window.  The overall exterior of the building
remains intact and is in good condition.  Street signage is no longer present, and the service canopy (if one existed) has 
been removed. 

Significance Statement 

Dryden’s Super Service Texaco Station, moved to its present location in the 1970s, is recommended to be not eligible for 
listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  The setting has been impacted by a modern commercial/industrial 
building on the west, a vehicle storage canopy on the north, and the current use of the station’s parcel as a vehicular 
storage yard.  The service station building retains historic integrity and represents the new type of streamlined-box gasoline 
station architecture that was introduced after World War II.  Texaco used standardized corporate designs in a Moderne 
style with horizontal forms, smooth surfaces, and spare ornamentation, except for the Texaco corporate-identity graphic 
elements such as the green horizontal bands and reds stars.  

Historical Background 

Limited information was discovered about the Dryden Super Service Texaco Station.  Older aerial photographs show that 
the service station was not at the current location in 1969.  Since it appears on the next available aerial map from 1979, it is
apparent that the building was moved sometime between these years (United States Army Corps of Engineers 1969, 
1979).  The former location and history of the Texaco Station were not uncovered during the historical research process.   

The first filling station in the United States began when a Seattle Standard Oil Co. sales manager assembled a gas pump 
using a water heater on a platform, a garden hose, and a glass gauge.  At that time motorists had to seek out gas and oil in 
grocery stores, livery stables or blacksmith shops (Chevron 2000-2005). 

Texas Oil Company’s (Texaco) first gas station was established in Brooklyn, New York in 1911.  Initially municipalities 
resisted the idea of gas stations because of the fire hazard and their potential unsightliness.  The public was soon swayed 
by their convenience and the gas stations multiplied quickly.  “Service stations” were born with the addition of free air and 
water. Other services were added to attract customers such as clean restrooms, drinking fountains, oil checks, and 
windshield washing (Chevron 2000-2005b; Chevron 2000-2005).  

Filling station designs took on many forms especially in the teens and twenties; the styles were individualized based on the 
region, prevailing styles, or the owner’s sense of humor.  During the Depression the gas companies sought ways to draw 
customers to their company stations, and began offering more standardized station designs with a pleasing look and more 
services.  It was at this time that Texaco hired Walter Dorwin Teague, today known as a noted industrial designer and one 
of the fathers of the industrial design industry, to infuse Texaco gas stations with a new look.  His designs incorporated 
elements of the Streamlined-Moderne style, which he also masterfully incorporated into many of his product designs such 
as airplanes for Boeing, appliances and cameras (Chevron 2000-2005; Chevron 2006).  Texaco’s filling station designs 
incorporated smooth, white surfaced walls of porcelain-enameled metal panels or masonry, green stripes forming a 
horizontal band at the cornice, red stars spaced above the band, and starting in the 1950s, flood lighting (Chevron 2006).   
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Sources 

Chevron 
 2000-2005a The History of Chevron – Service Stations.  Electronic document, 

http://www.chevron.com/products/learning_center/history/topic/service_stations/, accessed November 8, 2006. 
 2000-2005b Texaco, Facts and Figures.  Electronic document, http://www.texaco.com/about/facts_figures.asp, 

accessed November 8, 2006. 
 2006 CALTEX, History, Service Stations.  Electronic document, 

http://www.caltex.com/corp/en/HistoryServiceStations.asp, accessed November 8, 2006. 

United States Army Corps of Engineers [USACE] 
 1969 Aerial Photograph No. 69 – 173, Clackamas County, February 18, 1969.  On file, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 

Portland District, Portland, Oregon. 
 1979 Aerial Photograph No. 79 – 1674, Clackamas County, September 11, 1979.  On file, U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers, Portland District, Portland, Oregon. 
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View: Dryden’s Super Service Texaco Station’s southeast corner.  The view is to the northwest.









OREGON INVENTORY OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES
SECTION 106 DOCUMENTATION FORM 

Individual Properties 

Surveyor/Agency: Elizabeth J. O’Brien and Jason M. Allen/AINW Date Recorded: November 2006 Pg 2 
Appendix to Archaeological Investigations Northwest, Inc. Report No. 1740 

Property Name: Svendsen-Brown-Robbins Farmstead 

Street Address: 16409 SE Highway 212 City, County: Clackamas, Clackamas 

Architect, Builder or Designer (if known): 
Unknown 

Owner: Private Local Government State
Federal Other

Description of Property (including exterior alterations & approximate dates), Significance Statement, and Sources. (Use 
continuation sheets if necessary): 
Physical Description 
The Svendsen-Brown-Robbins farmstead is on approximately 20 acres of agricultural land located two miles north of 
Carver, Oregon and north of Highway 212 in Clackamas County.  The Svendsen-Brown-Robbins farmhouse (circa 1910) is 
an altered one-and-one-half story, Vernacular-style residence with Craftsman detailing.  The house is oriented south, 
approximately 117 meters (m) (385 feet [ft]) north of Highway 212 at the edge of a grove of mature deciduous and conifer 
trees.  Open fields extend on three sides to the south, east and west.  The domestic yard and farm buildings extend north, 
defined on the west by a presently piped drainage that originates at a spring in a grove of trees on a slope approximately 61 
m (200 ft) north of the farmstead ensemble.  The yard surrounding the farmhouse is partially defined by a rock wall that 
begins in the front yard, projects east, and then extends north along the yard’s eastern edge.  A tended back-yard lawn is 
edged by mature shrubs, trees, and a concrete fish pond.   

The farmstead, as it appears today, consists of buildings which range in date from circa 1910 to the 1980s, constructed by 
three different owners.  The farm complex consists of the farmhouse (circa 1910) and twelve outbuildings including a cow 
barn/shed (circa 1920s), garage (circa 1920s), pumphouse (1920s), chicken house/caretaker’s house (circa 1920/1969) 
with the remainder dating from the modern-period ownership of the Murray and Edith Robbins family.  These buildings 
include a chicken house (circa 1965), pole barn (1973), green house (1975), well house (1978), tractor shed (1981), and 
two portable skid sheds (circa 1980s). 

Historic-period Buildings

Farmhouse (circa 1910) 
The one-and-one-half story house has a side-gabled roof with a rear gabled attachment, and the house rests upon a 
concrete foundation.  The roof exhibits Craftsman-inspired details in the exposed rafters, knee braces, overhanging eaves, 
the bellcast gabled dormer, and the contrasting exterior wall-material textures.  The exterior wall materials are narrow, 
beveled drop siding and wood shingles at the second floor level.  Windows consist primarily of 1-over-1 wood sashes, six-
light casements, a later (circa 1930s) picture window with a multi-light transom and multi-light sidelights, and horizontally-
scaled multi-light windows at the front porch.  A one-story gabled addition projects from the east wall flush with the façade, 
and a porch enclosure was added at the juncture of the wing’ southeast corner.  The wing has an exterior brick chimney 
and is flanked by single six-light casement windows.  Originally the front porch extended the length of the façade recessed 
under the second floor.  The porch was enclosed by Fred Brown, the second owner, mostly likely in the 1930s, and the 
living room was extended into the enclosed space.  Part of the porch is enclosed by multi-light glass panes, and it has a 
door.  This main entry is accessed by concrete steps and a wrought-iron railing.  A small shed-roof porch (which is thought 
to have been added by Fred Brown) is found on the north elevation.  When the Robbins’ purchased the house, they found 
the second floor to be roughly finished; they added a second floor half-bath.  The farmhouse is in good condition, and 
although the modifications to the house are within the historic-period, it does not retain sufficient historic integrity to be 
eligible for listing in the NRHP, especially given the lack of architectural distinction. 

Garage
The historic-period garage (circa 1920s) is located approximately 23 m (75 ft) to the north of the house.  It has a side-gable 
roof and a façade that is three bays wide with two car openings and a human-scale door.  Six-light windows with simple 
surrounds light the east elevation.  The garage is fairly original including the wood drop siding, four-light door, windows, and
exposed rafters  There are modern overhead retractable garage doors.   

Chicken house/caretaker’s house 
The chicken house/caretaker’s house (circa 1920s) appears to be contemporary with the garage, although from the front, it 
looks like a 1970s Ranch-style home.  Viewing the building from the rear (north elevation) it can be discerned by regularly 
spaced, square four-light windows near the floor line that it likely was a chicken house.  The original drop siding remains 
intact on the north elevation and a wide, five-panel wood door, which appears original, is located on the east elevation.  
Fred Brown reportedly used it as a caretaker’s house and the building was updated by Russ Robbins in 1969 for use as a 
residence.  At that time it was modified with T-1-11 siding on three elevations, high horizontal sliding windows along the 
facade, and a concrete foundation.  Because of the extensive modifications made in 1969, the building no longer retains 
architectural integrity.   
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Cow shed 
Near the rear of the farmyard is a circa 1920s-1930s one-story, wood-framed cow-shed with exterior walls of horizontal and 
vertical wood planks. The roof is a low-pitched gable. This building has not been used by the Robbins (current owners), and 
is partially collapsed.   

Pumphouse 
The old pumphouse, which is located approximately 25 ft from the farmhouse’s southeast corner, is a representation of a 
Dutch windmill.  It is clad in wood shingles with wood trim.  Although the well is no longer used, the pumphouse remains in 
good condition and retains its historic integrity.  

Modern outbuildings
Eight of the outbuildings post-date the historic period and were constructed by the Robbins family; these include a chicken 
house (ca. 1965), pole barn (1973), green house constructed of corrugated fiberglass (1975), well house with a shed roof 
and clad with T-1-11 siding (1978) tractor shed, a garage building moved to the farm (1981), and two portable skid sheds 
(ca. 1980s). 

Significance Statement
The Svendsen-Brown-Robbins farmstead is recommended to be not eligible for listing in the NRHP due to a loss of integrity 
to its historic setting by the addition of eight modern agricultural outbuildings and due to the modifications to the two main 
buildings, the farmhouse and the chicken house/caretaker’s house.  Although the modifications to the farmhouse were 
made within the historic period, these additions do not distinguish the farmhouse as an outstanding example of an early 
twentieth century farmhouse.  These modifications included enclosing the original front porch, extending the living room 
(the gabled extension), and other porch alterations (circa 1930s to 1950s).    

Historical Background 

The Svendsen-Brown-Robbins farmstead is a twenty-acre farm property that was originally part of the 173.09-acre land 
grant of William C. Wilson.  Wilson obtained the land claim in 1862.  Previously, according to the 1860 Census records, he 
and his family lived in the Milwaukie precinct where he worked as a blacksmith.  Wilson’s land claim was proved in 1871 
and he continued farming until circa 1875, when the farm was sold to Gustav Bauman.  The land was sold to several 
others, then parceled to become part of a 40-acre tract in 1888.  The farm was sold to Sven and Rasmine (Mina) Svendsen 
as a 20-acre parcel in 1909 (Property Title of Fred Brown 1928, in possession of Edith Robbins).  Judging by the 
farmhouse’s historic features, it is likely that the house was constructed for use by the Svendsens, or at least they were one 
of the earliest owners.  The current owners were told by the former owner Fred Brown that there was an old log cabin at 
one time located below the spring near the north end of the property.   Sven L. and Mina Svendsen both hailed from 
Denmark; Sven arrived in 1888 and Mina followed the next year.  Before settling in Oregon, they lived in Nebraska.  
Svendsen engaged in general farming during his tenure on the property.  A 1916 photograph in the possession of the 
current owners shows that the original barn existed behind the house.  At that time the porch was intact and the garage and 
chicken house were not yet constructed. 

By the time Sven L. and Mina Svendsen had arrived in the Carver area (circa 1909), the county was experiencing an 
economic boom and rural areas once remote were now connected to urban and market centers.  In the early 1900s, 
interurban railroads expanded into the outlying areas, which encouraged small communities to develop near the rail stops.  
These rail lines brought the rural community within easy reach of the markets.    

The automobile was introduced circa 1910 and quickly became the preferred travel mode.  The use of autos and trucks 
necessitated an improved road network.  The Market Road Act of 1920 (amended 1925) funneled state funds to counties to 
improve the farm to market road network.  Highway 212 in the project vicinity was noted in the Oregon State Highway 
Commission Report of 1925-1926 as Market Road 16-Rock Creek Bridge to Mt. Hood Loop (Oregon State Highway 
Commission 1925-1926:476).  The improved roads allowed farmers to transport goods to market and drew commuting 
workers to the country, such as the second property owner, Fred M. Brown. 

Fred M. and Emma Brown purchased the farm from the Svendsens in December 1928.  Brown made a number of 
modifications to the house and the farm, including the planting of a number of trees on the property.  Brown’s primary 
occupation was as the chief switchkeeper for a telephone company, and his farm land was typically leased to neighboring 
farmers. Brown most likely converted the chicken house into a caretaker’s residence; he also made most of the 
modifications to the residence by enclosing the front porch, expanding the living room eastward into the porch, and adding 
an exterior brick fireplace (circa 1930s).  He also added a bathroom next to the kitchen and enclosed a rear porch and 
created a sunroom (circa 1940s-1950s).  The garage may have been constructed by Brown (circa 1920s).  Although Brown  
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did not farm the entire property, he did raise rosebushes in the front section.  The Browns occupied the property until 1961, 
when it was purchased by Murray and Edith Robbins (Edith and Russ Robbins, personal communication 2006).   

The Robbins family has occupied the farm since it was purchased by them in 1961.  Murray Robbins and his son Russ 
have added a number of buildings to the farm to accommodate the production of different crops.  In the early years they 
raised cows, horses, rabbits, and hay.  They constructed a chicken house (ca. 1965) and rabbit shed (demolished).  The 
caretaker’s house was updated circa 1969 by Russ and his father, for use by his young family; it later functioned as a 
rental.  The pole barn was constructed by the Robbins in 1973 and the green house in 1975 by Russ for his mother.  In the 
mid-1970s, Murray Robbins began growing strawberries and Russ took over the operation in the 1980s, which he 
continued for several years.  The skid sheds were brought in at that time for use in the fields and for selling the 
strawberries.  Most of the farm land is currently leased to the Siri Brothers farming operation (Edith and Russ Robbins, 
personal communication 2006). 

Sources 

Labbe, John T. 
 1982 Fares, Please! Those Portland Trolley Years.  The Caxton Printers, Caldwell, Idaho. 

Oregon State Highway Commission 
 1926 Seventh Biennial Report of the Oregon State Highway Commission Covering the Period December 1, 1924, to 

November 30, 1926.  State Printing Department, Salem. 

United States Bureau of the Census 
 1860 Manuscript Population Census of the United States. Eighth Census of the United States.  State of Oregon, 

Clackamas County, Rock Creek Precinct.  Microfilm copy on file, Oregon Historical Society Regional Research 
Library, Portland, Oregon. 

 1870 Manuscript Population Census of the United States. Ninth Census of the United States.  State of Oregon, 
Clackamas County, Rock Creek Precinct.  Microfilm copy on file, Oregon Historical Society Regional Research 
Library, Portland, Oregon. 

 1910 Manuscript Population Census of the United States. Eleventh Census of the United States.  State of Oregon, 
Clackamas County, Damascus Precinct.  Microfilm copy on file, Oregon Historical Society Regional Research 
Library, Portland, Oregon. 

 1920 Manuscript Population Census of the United States. Fourteenth Census of the United States.  State of Oregon, 
Clackamas County, Damascus Precinct.  Microfilm copy on file, Oregon Historical Society Regional Research 
Library, Portland, Oregon. 

 1930 Manuscript Population Census of the United States. Fifteenth Census of the United States.  State of Oregon, 
Clackamas County, Carver Precinct.  Microfilm copy on file, Oregon Historical Society Regional Research Library, 
Portland, Oregon. 
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View: The farmhouse’s west elevation and south façade.  The view is to the northeast

View: The farmhouse’s south façade and east elevation.  The view is to the northwest.
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Property Name: Svendsen-Brown-Robbins Farmstead 

Street Address: 16409 SE Highway 212 City, County: Clackamas, Clackamas 

View: The garage’s north and west elevations.  The view is to the southeast.

View: The chicken house/caretaker’s house modernized south façade.  The view is to the northwest.
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Property Name: Svendsen-Brown-Robbins Farmstead 

Street Address: 16409 SE Highway 212 City, County: Clackamas, Clackamas 

View: The chicken house/caretaker’s house north elevation.  The view is to the southwest.

View: The cow shed near the pole barn.  The view is to the northwest.
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Property Name: Svendsen-Brown-Robbins Farmstead 

Street Address: 16409 SE Highway 212 City, County: Clackamas, Clackamas 

View: The old pumphouse that is located in the farmhouse’s front yard.  The view is to the north.

View: The modern well house is to the left and the tractor shed that was moved to the farm in 1981 is to the right.  The view is to the south.
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Property Name: Svendsen-Brown-Robbins Farmstead 

Street Address: 16409 SE Highway 212 City, County: Clackamas, Clackamas 

View: The modern pole barn and the adjacent cow shed.  The view is to the northwest.

View: The modern chicken house.  The view is to the west.
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Property Name: Svendsen-Brown-Robbins Farmstead 

Street Address: 16409 SE Highway 212 City, County: Clackamas, Clackamas 

View: The rock wall and greenhouse that are located east of the farm house.  The view is to the west.

View: An overall view of the Svendsen-Brown-Robbins farmstead.  The view is to the east.
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Property Name: Mirrell Newell Farmstead 

Street Address: 16631 SE Highway 212 City, County: Clackamas, Clackamas 

Architect, Builder or Designer (if known): 
Unknown 

Owner: Private Local Government State
Federal Other

Description of Property (including exterior alterations & approximate dates), Significance Statement, and Sources. (Use 
continuation sheets if necessary):
Physical Description 

The Mirrell Newell farmstead (consisting of a house and one agricultural outbuilding) is located approximately two miles 
north of Carver, Oregon, at 16631 SE Hwy 212.  The semi-rural setting consists of a mix of farmland and modern 
residential subdivisions.  The house is on an embankment north of Highway 212 in a landscape of mature trees, overgrown 
shrubs, and tall grasses.  It is accessed by a gravel drive on the east side of the house.  The agricultural outbuilding is 
located approximately 30 m (100 ft) northeast of the house. 

The Mirrell Newell farmstead consists of a modest circa 1925 Craftsman bungalow-style residence and a circa 1963 
outbuilding.  The residence is a one-and-one-half story Craftsman-style bungalow with a side-gable roof, a shed-roof front 
dormer, and on a concrete basement foundation.  The roof has deep, overhanging eaves supported by jigsaw-ornamented 
knee braces and exposed rafters.  The roof is clad in asphalt composition shingles.  The façade is asymmetrically 
composed with (from west to east across the south elevation) triple one-over-one, wood-sash windows, original entry door, 
and smaller fixed wood-sash window adjacent to the door way.  The concrete-slab porch extends the façade’s full width, 
and the porch roof is supported by wooden box posts.  The body of the house is covered with beveled drop siding, and the 
dormer walls are sheathed in wood shingles.  All windows on the house are one-over-one, wood-sash windows with lamb’s 
tails.  The rear of the house has a small, circa 1935 pyramidal-roofed addition, sided in coved-shiplap wood siding, with 
windows that match the rest of the house.  A small fruit orchard stands to the north of the house. 

The circa 1963 agricultural outbuilding associated with this house is a single-story, front-gabled structure with three bays.  
Each bay has a sliding door on the west elevation.  The building is sided with wood (generally plywood).  The roof is 
sheathed with corrugated sheet steel.  The outbuilding replaced the original barn that collapsed in the 1962 Columbus Day 
storm.

Significance Statement 

The Mirrell Newell farmstead is recommended to be not eligible for listing in the NRHP, due to a lack of architectural 
integrity and a lack of historical distinction.  The Mirrell Newell house is in the Craftsman bungalow style.  The Craftsman 
style was the dominant residential style in this part of Oregon during the early decades of the 1900s, and as a result, there 
are many similar houses in Clackamas County that retain better integrity, and are better examples of this style.  The 
farmstead is not associated with any person of transcendent historical importance, and includes no unusual architectural or 
engineering merit.  One of the key architectural features of the Craftsman style is full-width porch on the front elevation.  
The porch of the Mirrell Newell house, while retaining what may be the original box posts, has been replaced with a large, 
solid concrete porch deck and stairs.  There is no rail, and the porch does not match the aesthetic qualities of the rest of the
house.  Integrity loss due to alteration is also seen by the addition of a single-room attachment at the rear elevation.   

Historical Background 

Mirrell Newell and his wife Beatrice occupied this small farm in the 1920s and 1930s and were likely its original owners.  
Mirrell Newell had not moved far to build his own home having been raised nearby in the home of his parents Austin and 
Mary Ellen Newell.  Like his father on his nearby land, Mirrell practiced general farming on this property (Metsker Maps 
1928:18; U.S. Bureau of the Census 1920). 

Through the end of the nineteenth century, the Clackamas area was only lightly populated, and was generally in agricultural 
production.  In the early 1900s, interurban railroads expanded into the outlying areas, which encouraged small communities 
to develop near the rail stops.  These rail lines brought the rural community within easy reach of the markets.  By 1910, 
Clackamas County was experiencing an economic boom and once-remote rural areas were becoming better connected to 
urban and market centers, facilitating suburban development.  The increased use of autos and trucks made clear the need 
for an improved road network.  The Market Road Act of 1920 (amended in 1925) funneled state funds to counties to 
improve their farm to market road network.  Highway 212 in this vicinity was noted in the Oregon State Highway 
Commission Report of 1925-1926 as Market Road 16-Rock Creek Bridge to Mt. Hood Loop (Oregon State Highway 
Commission 1926:476).  The improved road network further accelerated the development of this area.   
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As the population continued to expand and the roadways improved, the lower basin of the Clackamas River has become a 
bedroom community for the Portland area.  The development of I-205 construction beginning in 1968, coupled with rail 
connections, led Clackamas to become an industrial and commercial center, with former residential areas redeveloped for 
that purpose.  As the population shifted away from the old community core of Clackamas, former agricultural areas in the 
vicinity of the Newell Farmstead have begun to be redeveloped for residential use.   

Sources

Labbe, John T. 
 1982 Fares, Please! Those Portland Trolley Years.  The Caxton Printers, Caldwell, Idaho. 

Metsker Maps 
 1928 Metsker's Atlas of Clackamas County, Oregon.  Charles F. Metsker, Portland and Tacoma.  

Oregon State Highway Commission 
 1926 Seventh Biennial Report of the Oregon State Highway Commission Covering the Period December 1, 1924, to 

November 30, 1926.  State Printing Department, Salem. 

United States Bureau of the Census 
 1920 Manuscript Population Census of the United States.  Fourteenth Census of the United States. State of Oregon, 

Clackamas County, Damascus Precinct.  Copy on file, Multnomah County Library, Portland, Oregon. 
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View: West elevation of the agricultural building.  The view is to the northeast.
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Property Name:  Clackamas School 

Street Address:  115301 SE 92nd Avenue City, County:  Clackamas, Clackamas 

Architect, Builder or Designer (if known): 
Unknown 

Owner: Private Local Government State
Federal Other

Description of Property (including exterior alterations & approximate dates), Significance Statement, and Sources. (Use 
continuation sheets if necessary):

Physical Description: 
Clackamas Elementary School is a single-story school with Tudor-style design elements, including the castellated entryway 
with crenellated parapet and Tudor-arched doorway.  The main portion of the school, built in 1939 and expanded in 1947, is 
“H” shaped with a centered wing on the rear elevation.  The rear portions between the end wings and center rear wing have 
been infilled with later construction.  Attached to the northwest corner of the original building, is a 1953 classroom annex, 
connected to the main structure by a glassed-in breezeway and extended to the west in 1958 (Krumm 2007). 

The main portion of the building has a hipped roof, both over the main mass and over the projecting end wings, all clad with 
asphalt shingle.  The building is constructed in concrete with incised seams, giving the building the appearance of large-
block, ashlar-finish masonry construction.  The windows are intact, 6-over-6, wood sash windows.  The open spaces at the 
rear of the building, between the wings and the center rear wing, were infilled at an unknown date, but are not visible from 
the east (front), north or south elevations. 

The 1953/1958 classroom annex attached to the rear of the north wing is a single-story classroom wing built in two 
episodes.  The roof across the entire structure is a low-pitched, gable roof clad in asphalt shingle.  The walls are clad in 
concrete with a stucco finish. The eastern 1953 portion of the addition has fixed, steel-framed windows.  Above the 
windows and doors are steel-framed, multi-light windows with frosted lights.  The western 1958 portion of the addition has 
large, fixed steel-framed windows with small, operable lower sashes.  This portion does not carry the upper frosted-glass 
windows. 

Statement of Significance: 
The Clackamas Elementary School is recommended to be eligible for listing in the NRHP under Criterion C as a relatively 
well-preserved, intact example of a late 1930s school building with well-matched 1940s additions, originally built by the 
Public Works Administration (PWA) (Shearer 1979:20).  The 1953/1958 classroom annex and the recreational fields 
associated with the school are not considered to be contributing elements to the historic Clackamas Elementary School. 

Following a fire that destroyed the previous structure, the PWA was engaged to construct a new school to serve the 
community of Clackamas.  The original building was rectangular and contained four classrooms, with two grades located in 
each.  In 1947, the school was expanded to accommodate additional students due to a merger with the East Clackamas 
School.  The additional six classrooms were added at the north and south ends (3 classrooms in each) in the form of 
projecting wings (Shearer 1979:21).  Established design motifs and window designs were carried into the new wings, 
creating a near seamless transition between the 1939 and 1947 build events.  In 1953, the expanding student population 
led to the construction of three new classrooms in a single-story classroom annex, attached to the rear of the north wing.  In 
1958, this annex was extended to the west, adding an additional three classrooms (Clackamas Elementary School 
1974:52). 

Because the alterations were all done during the historic period and during a relatively short timespan (19 years between 
original construction and final, current layout), and because the 1953/1958 classroom annex is attached to the original 
building through a glass-enclosed breezeway allowing for easy differentiation between older construction and more recent 
construction, the additions do not diminish the integrity of the school to the point as to render it ineligible.  The main portion
of the school maintains good integrity, with intact, original design elements and intact, original windows dating to the 1939 
construction of the original school and the 1947 expansion. 

The Clackamas Elementary School (originally known as Clackamas School) was built in 1939 to serve the primary-school 
children in the town of Clackamas.  Prior to the 1972 formation of the North Clackamas School District, Clackamas 
Elementary School was a part of Clackamas District No. 64, which included Bilquist School, Carver School, and McLoughlin 
Junior High School (Krumm 2007). 
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Property Name:  Clackamas School 

Street Address:  15301 SE 92nd Avenue City, County:  Clackamas, Clackamas 

Sources 
Clackamas Elementary School fourth Grade Class 
    1974 Clackamas, Oregon.  Prepared by the Fourth Grade Class of Clackamas Elementary School.  Self published. 

Krumm, Joe 
    2007  Person communication by telephone with Jason M. Allen, June 6, 2007. 

Shearer, Margaret [editor] 
    1979 Clackamas, Oregon II: A Walking Tour for Teachers and Students.  Instruction Materials Laboratory, North  
       Clackamas School District #12, Clackamas, Oregon. 
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Property Name: 

Street Address: City, County: 

View:  Clackamas Elementary School.  The 1939 portion is visible at center, the 1947 north wing is at right.  The view is to the southwest.

View:  Clackamas Elementary School, 1947 south wing.  The view is to the northwest.
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� Design Option A-2, which differs from Design Option A-1 (incorporated in both Build Alternatives 2 and 3) only by 
introducing a direct connection between Lawnfield Road and Tolbert Street, would have the same effect on the 
Clackamas Elementary School as Design Options 2 and 3. 

Description And Significance Of The Historic Property 

Clackamas Elementary School is a single-story school with Tudor-style design elements, including the castellated entryway 
with crenellated parapet and Tudor-arched doorway.  The main portion of the school, built in 1939 and expanded in 1947, is 
“H” shaped with a centered wing on the rear elevation.  The rear portions between the end wings and center rear wing have 
been infilled with later construction.  Attached to the northwest corner of the original building, is a 1953 classroom annex, 
connected to the main structure by a glassed-in breezeway and extended to the west in 1958 (Krumm 2007). 

The main portion of the building has a hipped roof, both over the main mass and over the projecting end wings, all clad with 
asphalt shingle.  The building is constructed in concrete with incised seams, giving the building the appearance of large-
block, ashlar-finish masonry construction.  The windows are intact, 6-over-6, wood sash windows.  The open spaces at the 
rear of the building, between the wings and the center rear wing, were infilled at an unknown date, but are not visible from 
the east (front), north or south elevations. 

The 1953/1958 classroom annex attached to the rear of the north wing is a single-story classroom wing built in two 
episodes.  The roof across the entire structure is a low-pitched, gable roof clad in asphalt shingle.  The walls are clad in 
concrete with a stucco finish. The eastern 1953 portion of the addition has fixed, steel-framed windows.  Above the 
windows and doors are steel-framed, multi-light windows with frosted lights.  The western 1958 portion of the addition has 
large, fixed steel-framed windows with small, operable lower sashes.  This portion does not carry the upper frosted-glass 
windows. 

The Clackamas Elementary School is eligible for listing in the NRHP under Criterion C as a relatively well-preserved, intact 
example of a late 1930s school building with well-matched 1940s additions, originally built by the Public Works 
Administration (PWA) (Shearer 1979:20).  The 1953/1958 classroom annex and the recreational fields associated with the 
school are not considered to be contributing elements to the historic Clackamas Elementary School. 

Following a fire that destroyed the previous structure, the PWA was engaged to construct a new school to serve the 
community of Clackamas.  The original building was rectangular and contained four classrooms, with two grades located in 
each.  In 1947, the school was expanded to accommodate additional students due to a merger with the East Clackamas 
School.  The additional six classrooms were added at the north and south ends (3 classrooms in each) in the form of 
projecting wings (Shearer 1979:21).  Established design motifs and window designs were carried into the new wings, 
creating a near seamless transition between the 1939 and 1947 build events.  In 1953, the expanding student population 
led to the construction of three new classrooms in a single-story classroom annex, attached to the rear of the north wing.  In 
1958, this annex was extended to the west, adding an additional three classrooms (Clackamas Elementary School 
1974:52). 

Because the alterations were all done during the historic period and during a relatively short timespan (19 years between 
original construction and final, current layout), and because the 1953/1958 classroom annex is attached to the original 
building through a glass-enclosed breezeway allowing for easy differentiation between older construction and more recent 
construction, the additions do not diminish the integrity of the school to the point as to render it ineligible.  The main portion
of the school maintains good integrity, with intact, original design elements and intact, original windows dating to the 1939 
construction of the original school and the 1947 expansion. 

The Clackamas Elementary School (originally known as Clackamas School) was built in 1939 to serve the primary-school 
children in the town of Clackamas.  Prior to the 1972 formation of the North Clackamas School District, Clackamas 
Elementary School was a part of Clackamas District No. 64, which included Bilquist School, Carver School, McLoughlin 
Junior High School (Krumm 2007). 



Surveyor/Agency: Jason M. Allen/AINW Date Recorded: November 2006 Pg 3 
Appendix to Archaeological Investigations Northwest, Inc. Report No. 1740 

OREGON INVENTORY OF HISTORIC PROPERTIES 
SECTION 106: FINDING OF EFFECT 

Continuation Sheet 

Agency/Project:  Clackamas County, Oregon Department of Transportation/ Sunrise Project: I-205 to Rock Creek Junction 
(Highway 212/224) 

Property Name:  Clackamas School 

Street Address:  15301 SE 92nd Avenue City, County:  Clackamas, Clackamas 

Avoidance Alternatives Considered 

The Clackamas Elementary School has been determined eligible for listing in the NRHP (Appendix A).  To meet all the project 
objectives, two Build Alternatives, one Design Option, and a No-Build Alternative are being considered.  None have yet been 
selected as the preferred alternative.  The placement of the proposed ramp between northbound I-205 and Hwy 212/224 is 
limited by the existing alignment of I-205 and existing development in the town of Clackamas along the east side of I-205. 

Build Alternative 2:  Build with Midpoint Interchange
This alternative is distinguished by the inclusion of a midpoint interchange in the vicinity of SE 122nd Avenue, which would 
connect the expressway to the existing Highway 212/224.  Implementation of Build Alternative 2 would result in the 
introduction of a new northbound ramp connecting I-205 to Highway 212/224 via a new signaled interchange.  The new ramp 
would pass between the current alignment of I-205 and the Clackamas Elementary School, requiring the taking of a small 
piece of land in the southwest corner of the grounds associated with the school.  In terms of effects to the historic resource,
Build Alternative 2 is identical to Build Alternative 3. 

Build Alternative 3:  Build with No Midpoint Interchange
In contrast to Alternative 2, this alternative would not have a midpoint interchange, resulting in no access to the expressway 
between I-205 and Rock Creek Junction.  Implementation of Build Alternative 2 would result in the introduction of a new 
northbound ramp connecting I-205 to Highway 212/224 via a new signaled interchange.  The new ramp would pass between 
the current alignment of I-205 and the Clackamas Elementary School, requiring the taking of a small piece of land in the 
southwest corner of the grounds associated with the school.  In terms of effects to the historic resource, Build Alternative 3 is
identical to Build Alternative 2. 

Design Option A-2:  Modified 1996 Design
This Design Option A-2 is identical to Build Alternatives 2 and 3, except that it provides for the extension of SE Tolbert Street
to the east, connecting to SE Industrial Way.  In terms of effects to the historic resource, Design Option A-2 is identical to Build
Alternatives 2 and 3. 

No-Build Alternative
The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), ODOT, and Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) guidelines require that a 
no-build option be evaluated as an alternative.  The no-build alternative would maintain the existing roadway except for 
committed improvements scheduled in ODOT’s six-year Statewide Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) and Metro’s 
Financially Constrained Projects listed in the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP).  These listed projects include widening SE 
82nd Drive (Lawnfield Road to Highway 212/224), extension of the climbing lane on Highway 212 (Rock Creek Junction to SE 
172nd Avenue), and widening SE 172nd Avenue (Foster Road to Highway 212).  None of these planned improvements would 
affect the historic resource Clackamas Elementary School. 

Evaluation Of Effects 

An application of the criteria of effect indicates a finding of No Adverse Effect on the integrity of the Clackamas Elementary 
School.  The Clackamas Elementary School draws its historical significance from the design and integrity of the main portion 
of the building (1939-1947 build episodes), and the project will not affect these qualities.  Although the setting of the school will 
be impacted through the implementation of any of the proposed Build Alternatives or the Design Option, the setting around the 
resource in this area has already been heavily compromised through the development of I-205 in the mid-1960s. 

Conclusion 

It is the determination of ODOT that the project would not adversely affect the Clackamas Elementary School, an historic 
building determined eligible for listing in the NRHP in 2007.  An application of the Criteria of Effect results in a finding of “No 
Historic Properties Adversely Affected.” 
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Sources 

Clackamas Elementary School Fourth Grade Class 
 1974  Clackamas, Oregon.  Prepared by the Fourth Grade Class of Clackamas Elementary School, Self-Published. 

Krumm, Joe 
 2007  Personal Communication by telephone with Jason M. Allen, June 6, 2007. 

Shearer, Margaret (ed.) 
 1979  Clackamas, Oregon II: A Walking Tour for Teachers and Students.  Instructional Materials Laboratory, North 

Clackamas School District #12. 
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IDENTIFIED HISTORIC RESOURCES WITHIN THE SUNRISE PROJECT APE 

Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

1 16300 SE 
McKinley Avenue 

22E09CD/ 
01500 

*1947 Ranch-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

2 16220 SE 
McKinley Avenue 

22E09CD/ 
01401 

*1945 Vernacular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 

 

3 
8790 SE Roots 

Road 
22E09CC/ 

00800 *1928 Bungalow 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 

 

4 8785 SE Roots 
Road 

22E09CC/ 
00700 

*1947 Cape Cod-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 

 

5 16035 SE 
McKinley Avenue 

22E09CC/ 
00100 

*1960 Ranch-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

 
      *  = Clackamas County Tax Assessor Date             DOE  = Determination of Eligibility 
                 FOE  = Finding of Effect   



 - 2 - 

 

IDENTIFIED HISTORIC RESOURCES WITHIN THE SUNRISE PROJECT APE 

Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

6 8734 SE 
Jefferson Street 

22E09CC/ 
00200 

*1959 Ranch-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 

 

7 
8725 SE Hood 

Street 
22E09CB/ 

04800 
*1951 World War 

II-era cottage 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 

 

8 15815 SE 
McKinley Avenue 

22E09CB/ 
04700 

*1951 Minimal 
Traditional-style 

house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

9 15805 SE 
McKinley Avenue 

22E09CB/ 
04600 

*1955 Ranch-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

10 15765 SE 
McKinley Avenue 

22E09CB/ 
04401 

*1955 Minimal 
Traditional-style 

house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

 



 - 3 - 
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Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

11 
15745 SE 

McKinley Avenue 
22E09CB/ 

04400 

Ca. 1900 
Vernacular/Late 

Queen Anne  

Possibly 
eligible for 

listing in the 
NRHP 

 
Clackamas 

County 
Historic 

Inventory 
 

Will not be 
affected; no 
further work 

needed 

 

12 15661 SE 
McKinley Avenue 

22E09CB/ 
04402 

*1930 Vernacular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 

 

13 15651 SE 
McKinley Avenue 

22E09CB/ 
00201 

*1912 Vernacular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 

 

14 15631 SE 
McKinley Avenue 

22E09CB/ 
00200 

*1920 Vernacular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 

 

15 8631 SE Jannsen 
Road 

22E09BC/ 
00800 

*1900 Vernacular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 
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Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

16 
8650 SE Janssen 

Road 
22E09BC/ 

02802 

*1949 Minimal 
Traditional-style 

house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction, and 
loss of integrity 

 

17 7924 SE Lake 
Road 

22E05DD/ 
00701 

Ca. 1915 
Craftsman 

Bungalow-style 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 
integrity 

 

18 14180 SE 
Johnson Road 

22E05DD/ 
00500 

*1955 Ranch-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

19 14288 SE 
Johnson Road 

22E05DD/ 
00400 

*1957 Ranch-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

20 14302 SE 
Johnson Road 

22E05DD/ 
00300 

*1947 Minimal 
Traditional-style 

house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 
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Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

21-25 
Camp 

Withycombe N /A Historic District Eligible  See below.  

21 

Structure 6720, 
Machine Gun 
Range/Camp 
Withycombe 

N/A 

1940 Machine 
Gun Range; 
Contributing 

feature 

Previously 
determined 
eligible for 

listing in the 
NRHP 

 
 

22 

Structure 6706, 
Multnomah 

Range/Camp 
Withycombe 

N/A 

Storage Building 
on Gun Range; 
Contributing 

feature 

Previously 
determined not 

eligible for 
listing in the 
NRHP by the 

SHPO 

 
 

 

23 

Structure 6705/ 
Military Pistol 
Range/Camp 
Withycombe 

N/A 

1938 Range 
shelter; 

Contributing 
feature 

Previously 
determined 
eligible for 

listing in the 
NRHP  
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Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

24 
1,000-yard Rifle 

Range/Camp 
Withycombe 

N/A 
1912 open range; 

Contributing 
feature  

Previously 
determined 
eligible for 

listing in the 
NRHP  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

25 

500-inch Small 
Bore 

Range/Camp 
Withycombe 

N/A 
1938 open range; 

Contributing 
feature 

Previously 
determined 
eligible for 

listing in the 
NRHP  

 
 

26 
Clackamas 
Cemetery/ 

SE Ambler Road 

22E04CB/ 
01000 

1850 Pioneer 
cemetery 

Possibly 
eligible for 

listing in the 
NRHP 

 
Will not be 
affected; no 
further work 

needed  
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IDENTIFIED HISTORIC RESOURCES WITHIN THE SUNRISE PROJECT APE 

Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

27 
13831 SE Ambler 

Lane 
22E04CB/ 

01200 

Ca. 1945 World 
War II Era 

Cottage 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 
 

 

28 

KEX Transmitter 
building towers 
and copper grid 
system/9415 SE 
Lawnfield Road 

22E04D/ 
00700 
00702 

1947-48 Art 
Deco-Moderne 
Commercial 

building 

Recommended 
to be eligible 
for listing in 

the NRHP  
 

Section 106 
DOE complete 

  

29 8810 SE Jannsen 
Road 

22E09BD/ 
03400 

*1950 Minimal 
Traditional 

duplex house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

30 14900 SE 82nd 
Drive 

22E09AB/ 
00400 

Ca. 1920 
Bungalow  

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

architectural 
integrity 
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IDENTIFIED HISTORIC RESOURCES WITHIN THE SUNRISE PROJECT APE 

Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

31 

Clackamas 
Community 

Club/15711 SE 
90th Avenue 

22E09CA/ 
01000 

Ca. 1950 
Minimal 

Traditional house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

32 
Walter D. Hickey 
House/15605 SE 

90th Avenue 

22E09CA/ 
00800 

Ca. 1900 
Vernacular house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 
integrity 

 
Clackamas 

County Historic 
Inventory 

 
No further work 

needed 
 

33 

Clackamas 
Computer/ 

15791 SE 90th 
Avenue 

22E09CA/ 
01100 

Ca. 1960 Ranch-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

34 

Columbia Body 
Manufacturing/ 

10037 SE Mather 
Road 

22E09A/ 
00400 

Ca. 1960 
Industrial 
building 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

35 
16121 SE 122nd 

Avenue 
22E10D/ 

02300 
Ca. 1960 Ranch-

style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 
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IDENTIFIED HISTORIC RESOURCES WITHIN THE SUNRISE PROJECT APE 

Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

36 15981 SE 122nd 
Avenue 

22E10D/ 
02100 

Ca. 1950 Ranch-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

37 

Emmert 
International/ 

12441 SE 
Highway 212 

22E10D/ 
01703 

Stored collection 
of moved houses, 

varying in age 
from ca. 1920 to 

modern 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

architectural 
integrity 

 
 

 

38 

Silverthread 
Kraut and Pickle 
Works Building/ 
15734 SE 130th 

Avenue 

22E11D/ 
02302 

Ca. 1920 
Agricultural 
processing 

facility 

Eligible for 
listing in the 
NRHP (with 

Resource # 39) 
 

Clackamas 
County 
Historic 

Inventory 
 

Clackamas 
County 

Landmark 
 

Section 106 
DOE complete  
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Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

39 
Frank Haberlach 
House/15730 SE 

Highway 212 

22E11D/ 
02312 

Ca. 1916 
Craftsman-style 

Bungalow 

Eligible for 
listing in the 
NRHP (with 

Resource # 38) 
 

Clackamas 
County 

Landmark 
 

Clackamas 
County 
Historic 

Inventory 
 

Section 106 
DOE complete 

 

40 
Cascade Phillips 
Company/12215 
SE Highway 212 

22E11C/ 
01500 

Ca. 1950 
Industrial 
building 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

41 
Cascade Phillips 
Company/12211 
SE Highway 212 

22E11C/ 
01400 

Ca. 1920 
Craftsman-style 

house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

42 

Southern Pacific 
Railroad 

Willamette Valley 
Main Line 

N/A 

1868-1869; now 
operated by 

Union Pacific 
Company 

Eligible for 
listing in the 

NRHP  
 

Section 106 
DOE and FOE 

complete 
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Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource  

43 

Dryden’s Super 
Service Texaco 
Station/13565 

SE Highway 212 

22E11AC/ 
02590 

Ca. 1945 Service 
Station 

Not eligible for 
listing in the 

NRHP  
 

Section 106 
DOE complete 

 
No further 

work needed  

44 13565 SE 
Highway 212 

22E11AC/ 
03000 

Ca. 1920 
Bungalow 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

45 13499 SE 
Highway 212 

22E11AC/ 
03100 

Ca. 1960 
Industrial 
building 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

46 
13171 SE 

Highway 212 
22E11C/ 

00100 
Ca. 1960 Ranch-

style house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

47 13163 SE 
Highway 212 

22E11C/ 
00101 

Trailer housing, 
circa 1950s to 

1970s 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 
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Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

48 15203 SE 142nd 
Avenue 

22E12B/ 
03100 

Ca. 1920 
Bungalow 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

49 
15251 SE 142nd 

Avenue 
22E11A/ 

00700 
*1945 Cape Cod-

style house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

50 
14801 SE 

Morning Way 
22E12B/ 

03601 

*1957 Minimal 
Traditional-style 

house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

51 15431 SE 152nd 
Drive 

22E12B/ 
03800 

*1925 Vernacular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

52 15481 SE 152nd 
Drive 

22E12B/ 
03900 

*1948 Vernacular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 
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IDENTIFIED HISTORIC RESOURCES WITHIN THE SUNRISE PROJECT APE 

Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

53 

John Donaldson 
House/ 

15221 SE 
Highway 212 

22E12A/ 
00800 

*1930 English 
Cottage-style 

house 

Previously 
determined not 

eligible for 
listing in the 

NRHP  
 

Clackamas 
County 
Historic 

Inventory 
 

No further 
work needed 

 

54 14489 SE 
Highway 212 

22E12B/ 
03501 

Ca. 1960 Ranch-
style house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

55 15278 SE 
Highway 224 

22E12/ 
00201 

*1935 Bungalow 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

56 
15302 SE 

Highway 224 
22E12/ 
00102 

*1936 English 
Cottage-style 

house  

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

57 
Martin Lehman 

House/15690 SE 
Highway 212 

22E12D/ 
00700 

*1926 English 
Cottage-style 

house  

Previously 
determined not 

eligible for 
listing in the 

NRHP  
 

No further 
work needed  
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Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

58 

Svendsen-Brown 
Farmstead/ 
16409 SE 

Highway 212 

23E07B/ 
01001 

Ca. 1910 
Vernacular house 

Not eligible for 
listing in the 

NRHP  
 

Section 106 
DOE form 
complete 

 
No further 

work needed 
 

59 
Mirrell Newell 

House/16631 SE 
Highway 212 

23E07B/ 
01400 

*1925 
Craftsman-style 

Bungalow 

Not eligible for 
listing in the 

NRHP  
 

Section 106 
DOE form 
complete 

 
No further 

work needed 
 

60 
15528 SE 
Anderegg 
Parkway 

23E07CA/ 
08100 

Ca. 1920 
Bungalow 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

architectural 
integrity 

 

61 
17746 SE 

Highway 212 
23E07DA/ 

00900 
*1959 Vernacular 

house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 
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Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

62 17780 SE 
Highway 212 

23E07DA/ 
00800 

*1925 Bungalow 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

63 17900 SE 
Highway 212 

23E07DA/ 
00600 

Ca. 1930 
Vernacular 
garage and 

modern modular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

64 17920 SE 
Highway 212 

23E7DA/ 
00400 

*1930 Colonial 
Bungalow 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

65 17981 SE 
Highway 212 

23E7AD/ 
00600 

*1954 Vernacular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

66 17785 SE 
Armstrong Circle 

23E07AD/ 
00900 

*1925 Vernacular 
house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

67 
17141 SE 

Armstrong Circle 
23E07B/ 

01500 
*1945 Vernacular 

house 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

architectural 
integrity 

 
 



 - 16 - 

IDENTIFIED HISTORIC RESOURCES WITHIN THE SUNRISE PROJECT APE 

Map 
ID 

Property 
Name/Address 

Map/Tax 
Lot 

Construction 
Date/Resource 

Type 

National 
Register 
Status 

Photograph of Resource 

68 
9500 SE Mather 

Rd. 
22E09AC/ 

00100 

Ca. 1950 
industrial 

warehouses 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

69 
15571 to 15615 

SE 82nd Drive 

22E09CA/ 
00100 and 
22E09CA/ 

00203 

Ca. 1950 
Commercial 

building 

Not eligible due 
to a loss of 

integrity and 
lack of 

architectural 
distinction 

 

70 
15951 SE 212 

Highway 
22E12D/ 

00200 
Ca. 1900 

Vernacular house 

Not eligible due 
to a lack of 

integrity and 
architectural 
distinction 

 

71 

Clackamas 
Elementary 

School/15301 SE 
92nd Avenue 

22E0BD/ 
04900 

1939 public 
school building 

Eligible for 
listing in the 

NRHP 
 

Section 106 
DOE and FOE 

complete 
 

 


